### Applied Energy 191 (2017) 603-619

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

**Applied Energy** 

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/apenergy

# Ethanol blends in spark ignition engines: RON, octane-added value, cooling effect, compression ratio, and potential engine efficiency gain

Chongming Wang<sup>a</sup>, Soheil Zeraati-Rezaei<sup>a</sup>, Liming Xiang<sup>a,b</sup>, Hongming Xu<sup>a,c,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Mechanical Engineering, School of Engineering, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, B15 2TT, UK
<sup>b</sup> Hubei University of Arts and Science, Hubei, China
<sup>c</sup> State Key Laboratory of Automotive Safety and Energy, Tsinghua University, Beijing, China

НІG Н L I G Н Т S

- Literature about ethanol blends in SI engines is reviewed.
- Octane-added value is proposed for ethanol blends.
- Charge cooling effect of ethanol fuels is quantitatively assessed.
- Engine efficiency gain from ethanol blends is predicted.

### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 7 September 2016 Received in revised form 31 December 2016 Accepted 27 January 2017 Available online 10 February 2017

Keywords: Ethanol Spark ignition RON Charge cooling Compression ratio

### ABSTRACT

Identifying a sustainable, practical and low-emission energy supply for modern transportation has always been a challenge for energy and automotive researchers. While electrification of the vehicle powertrain is a promising long-term energy supply solution, bio-ethanol is currently playing an important role as a short- and mid-term solution for the popular spark ignition (SI) engine. The questions of how to use ethanol more effectively as an octane booster, how much potential engine thermal efficiency gain can be achieved by using ethanol blends and what their impacts on the vehicle mileage range are have become highly relevant. In this paper, a critical review and discussion regarding these questions is provided. Firstly, studies regarding octane rating and octane index of gasoline fuels, and K value (a scaling factor for calculating octane index) for various SI engines are reviewed. Then, a review of the research octane number (RON), motor octane number (MON) and octane sensitivity for ethanol blends is reported. Three established models for predicting RON of ethanol blends are reviewed and compared. In addition, a simple RON prediction model proposed by the authors of this paper is provided. Parameters such as octane value and octane-added index (OAI) are proposed to describe the effectiveness of using ethanol as an octane booster. It is found that there exits an optimised ethanol blend ratio that gives the maximum octane value; and this optimised blend ratio is insensitive to the octane rating of the base gasoline. Secondly, the charge cooling effect of ethanol blends and its corresponding equivalent octane number are discussed and reviewed. Thirdly, engine thermal efficiency improvement due to increased compression ratios, which results from the octane index gain achieved by using ethanol blends, is reviewed. Finally, a discussion about the impact of ethanol blends on the vehicle mileage range is presented. The lower heating value of ethanol is about 33% lower than that of typical gasoline, leading to a reduction in the mileage range of the vehicle, however, improved engine thermal efficiency achieved by using ethanol blends can partially, or even fully, offset the negative impact of the lower calorific value on the mileage range.

© 2017 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.







<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: Department of Mechanical Engineering, School of Engineering, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, B15 2TT, UK. *E-mail address*: h.m.xu@bham.ac.uk (H. Xu).

### Nomenclature

Acronym. AFR	s and abbreviations air fuel ratio	PFI PRFs	port fuel injection primary reference fuels
AKI	anti-knock index	RON	research octane number
BMEP	brake mean effective pressure	RON <sub>blend</sub>	RON of ethanol blend
CFR	cooperative fuels research	RON	RON of base gasoline
CR	compression ratio	RONethan	RON of ethanol
DI	direct injection	SI	spark ignition
DISI	direct injection spark ignition	TC	turbo-charged
DVPE	dry vapour pressure equivalent	TOV	total octane value
EGR	exhaust gas recirculation	TOV <sub>a bler</sub>	nd total octane value after blending
EOI	effective octane index	TOV <sub>b ble</sub>	nd total octane value before blending
FFVs	flex fuel vehicles	VOV	volumetric octane value
HOV	heat of vaporization	VVT	variable valve timing
IMEP	indicated mean effective pressure		
KLSA	knock limited spark advance	Definitio	15
LHV	low heating value	E'x'	x% volume-based ethanol in the blend: for example, E10
LMC	linear molar-weighted model		means 10 vol.% ethanol in the blend
LVC	linear volumetric-weighted model	К	a scaling factor used in the calculation of octane index
MON	motor octane number	Pg	measured RON of 50%:50% molar ethanol-gasoline
NA	naturally aspirated	U	blend
NMC	non-linear molar-weighted model	S	octane sensitivity, which equals to the difference be-
NOI	normalized octane improvement		tween RON and MON
NTC	negative temperature coefficient	$\chi_{mole}$	molar fraction of ethanol in the blend
OAI	octane-added index	$x_{vol}$	volumetric fraction of ethanol in the blend
OEMs	original equipment manufacturers	η	engine Thermal efficiency
ON	octane number		
ONCE	octane number from cooling effect	Octane r	elated parameter
ONCE <sub>gase</sub>	oline ONCE of base gasoline	EOI	chemical effect + sensitivity effect + cooling effect
ONCE <sub>etha</sub>	anol ONCE of ethanol	Chemica	l effect RON minus PCCE (RON-PCCE)
0I OI	octane index	Octane s	ensitivity
OI blend	octane index of ethanol blend		effect –K * S
PCCE	partially captured cooling effect	Cooling	effect ONCE
		-	

### Contents

1.	Introduction	. 604
2.	Octane rating	. 605
	2.1. History of octane rating and K value identification for SI engines	. 606
	2.2. Octane prediction models for ethanol blends	. 607
	2.3. Optimal ethanol blend ratio	. 609
3.	Cooling effect and the effect of octane index for ethanol blends	. 609
	3.1. Quantification of cooling effect for ethanol blends	. 609
	3.2. Partially captured cooling effect in standard RON Test, and Effective OI	. 611
4.	Compression ratio and engine thermal efficiency	612
	4.1. Compression ratio	. 612
	4.2. Engine thermal efficiency improvement from increased CR and flame speed	. 612
5.	Case studies for ethanol blends in SI engines	613
6.	Conclusions	. 617
	Acknowledgment	. 617
	References	. 617

### 1. Introduction

Sustained research and development has been conducted on bio-fuels in order to improve the sustainability of energy supplies and to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. The most widely used bio-fuel is bio-ethanol. First generation bio-ethanol is made from arable crops and sugar canes which can be easily converted using conventional technologies [1]. Second generation biofuels are made from lignocellulosic biomass or wood-based crops, agricultural residues or waste, which do not compete with human food consumption. In the following paper, 'bio-ethanol' will be simply referred to as 'ethanol'.

Ethanol has many favourable physiochemical properties which make it the preferred gasoline alternative. It can be used in its pure form in specially designed vehicles, or in blended forms with some vehicle modifications. Numerous studies have reported the effectiveness of ethanol blends in improving engine efficiency, in reducing emissions, such as particulates, carbon monoxide and

Tabl	e 1	
Fuel	properties	5.

	Unit	Gasoline <sup>a</sup>	Ethanol	Effect of Ethanol
Formula		C <sub>4</sub> -C <sub>12</sub>	$C_2H_6O$	No aromatic, olefin and sulphur content, less combustion chamber deposit, injector deposit and particle formation tendency [14-16,51]
RON		95+	107	Suppress engine knock [9]
RON		85+	89	
Oxygen content	wt.%	0	34.78	Low emissions, low energy density
Stoichiometric AFR		14.5	9	High fuel mass flow, fuel and wall interaction, and cooling effect
Density @ 15 °C	kg/m <sup>3</sup>	720-775	790	High oil dilution [72]
Laminar flame speed <sup>b</sup>	m/s	0.44	0.55	High acceleration response and high engine efficiency
Lower heating value	MJ/kg	42	26.9	High fuel consumption [9]
Flash point	°C	-40	13	Bad cold start
Heat of vaporization @ $\lambda = 1$	kJ/kg_air	26	103	Bad cold start, good cooling effect
Initial boiling point	°C	Varies	78	Bad cold start
Reid vapour pressure	kPa	Varies (48-110)	15.5	Bad cold start
Water solubility	%	0	100	Bad cold start, risk of phase separation when ethanol is added into gasoline
Miles reduction relative to gasoline <sup>c</sup>	%	0	33	Potentially high fuel consumption

<sup>a</sup> Typical gasoline available in the EU market.

<sup>b</sup> Measurement condition: 1 bar initial pressure, 50°C initial temperature, and 1.1 equivalence ratio.

<sup>c</sup> Assume that engine thermal efficiencies for gasoline and ethanol are the same.

unburned hydrocarbons [2–13], and in reducing the fuel injection system's deposit formation [14–19]. Some of these benefits are briefly reviewed below.

Table 1 lists a summary of gasoline and ethanol fuel properties, along with direct/indirect impacts of ethanol on engine performance. The high octane rating of ethanol leads to a reduced engine knock tendency, thus ethanol can be used in high compression ratio (CR) SI engines, which results in improved engine thermal efficiency [20–22]. The high octane sensitivity of ethanol is also potentially beneficial for suppressing knock in SI engines when the K values of the engine at certain operating points (typically high load) are negative [19,23–25].

For ethanol, the measured research octane number (RON) and motor octane number (MON) in different publications varies. According to 16 publications from various research institutes and original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) [14.26–40], the reported RON and MON of ethanol generally fall in the range of 106-111 and 89-92, respectively. These variations are believed to be due to uncertainties in the RON and MON measurement methods and variations in the properties of ethanol itself. In the standard octane rating test, it is defined that the RON and MON of n-heptane and iso-octane, the primary reference fuels (PRFs), are 0 and 100, respectively. This definition makes the measurement of octane ratings higher than 100 difficult, relying on the extrapolated octane rating calibration curve, or on using high octane rating reference fuels that contain iso-octane and tetraethyl lead [40]. In addition, ethanol is highly soluble in water [41], which leads to potential water contamination in ethanol and therefore measurement errors. Due to the two above mentioned reasons, it is believed that different laboratories produced different measured octane ratings for ethanol. In this paper, for the purpose of consistency, the RON and MON of ethanol are considered as 107 and 89, respectively, which are the values recommended in John Heywood's widely used book [27].

Apart from the high octane rating, the faster laminar flame speed of ethanol helps to improve the engine's combustion process and reduce knock tendency [42,43]. Its oxygen content helps reduce hydrocarbon emissions, due to increased completeness of the main combustion and post oxidation processes [11], however, it must be noted that its lower heating value (LHV), resulting from its oxygen content, causes in high volumetric fuel consumption. In comparison to gasoline, the higher fuel/air ratio required for stoichiometric combustion and the lower LHV of ethanol leads to higher fuel mass flow and thus longer injection pulse width; as a consequence, there are higher cylinder wall and piston wetting tendencies. High ethanol blend ratios potentially lead to coldstart problems and high gaseous and particulate emissions, due to ethanol's relatively high boiling point, high heat of vaporization (HOV), and low Reid vapour pressure [44–50]. When blended into gasoline, ethanol dilutes its aromatic and olefin contents, therefore, ethanol blends potentially reduce particle emissions and deposit formation [14–16,51,52].

In the European and US gasoline fuel markets, gasoline usually contains 5–10 vol.% ethanol. Modern gasoline vehicles can be smoothly powered by these low percentage ethanol blends. Several studies have been done on engines powered by fuels containing up to 85 vol.% ethanol (E85) [53–55]. The vehicles that are capable of using E85 are typically called flexible fuel vehicles (FFVs). However, current FFVs do not utilize the full potential of high percentage ethanol blends because only engine calibration adaptations such as active ignition management are used; advanced engine hardware adaptations such as variable compression ratio can only be used to extract more benefits from ethanol blends once those technologies become more cost-effective [56,57].

The impacts of ethanol blends on octane rating, engine thermal efficiency and vehicle mileage range are important questions which need to be answered. In this paper, a critical review and discussion regarding the application of ethanol blends in spark ignition (SI) engines is provided. Firstly, studies of the octane rating for gasoline, as well as studies of the octane index and K value for SI engines are reviewed. Secondly, the octane rating of ethanol blends, and three established models for predicting the octane rating of ethanol blends are reviewed and compared. In addition, a simple RON prediction model proposed by the authors of this paper is provided. Thirdly, the charge cooling effect of ethanol blends and the corresponding equivalent octane number are discussed. Fourthly, the engine efficiency improvement due to increased compression ratios (CR), which result from the octane index gain achieved by using ethanol blends is reviewed. Finally, several ethanol blend case studies of engine thermal efficiency gains and vehicle mileage range reduction are discussed for naturally aspirated direct injection spark ignition (DISI) and turbocharged downsized DISI engines.

### 2. Octane rating

This section is comprised of three parts. Firstly, a literature review of the octane rating measurement history is conducted, and the newly proposed octane index by Kalghatgi, and the K value identification for SI engines are reviewed and discussed. Secondly, octane ratings of ethanol blends are reviewed, along with three established octane prediction models and a model proposed by the authors of this paper. Finally, the optimal ethanol blend ratio for maximizing the benefit of ethanol as an octane booster is discussed.

### 2.1. History of octane rating and K value identification for SI engines

Historically, the anti-knock characteristics of gasoline-type fuels are described by two parameters, RON and MON, which are measured in standardized single-cylinder naturally aspirated (NA) carburettor SI engines, first designed in 1929 [58–60]. These engines are widely known as cooperative fuels research (CFR) engines. Table 2 lists the summary of standard RON and MON test conditions. Details of the RON and MON test procedures are defined in the ASTM standards D2699-08 and D2700-08, respectively [61,62].

Octane rating is one of the most important parameters for gasoline-type fuels. OEMs choose the engine CR mostly based on the gasoline that is most widely available in the market (so called regular gasoline). In the US, anti-knock index (AKI), which is the average value of RON and MON, is used to regulate the octane quality (AKI  $\ge$  87). In European countries, the EN228 regulation sets the minimum limits for RON and MON at 95 and 85, respectively [63]. However, after nearly 90 years of development, modern SI engines tend to operate at relatively low temperatures and high pressure conditions, resulting from the use of advanced technologies such as DI, charge intercooling and cooled exhaust gas recirculation (EGR) [64,65]. Additionally, the physiochemical properties of the PRFs (iso-octane and n-heptane) used in CFR engines differ from gasolines available in the market, which consist of thousands of various hydrocarbons. The most important difference is that the PRFs have stronger negative temperature coefficients (NTC) than gasoline [66]. Therefore, due to significant deviations in hardware and the fuels used, between the CFR and modern engines, the relevance of RON and MON to modern SI engines needs to be re-assessed.

The significance of RON to modern gasoline engines has been proven by many investigations [9,67–71], however, the relevance of MON has been challenged by more and more research data, especially in the last 10 years [19,23–25]. It was found that for some engine types and at some operating conditions, a low MON could be beneficial to reduce engine knock tendency [23,24,72–74]. To compensate for the possible disagreement between CFR and modern engines results, the octane index (OI) was proposed by Kalghatgi [23]:

$$OI = RON - K \times (RON - MON) = RON - K \times S$$
(1)

where K is a scaling factor depending solely on the in-cylinder temperature and pressure history experienced by the end-gas prior to the onset of auto-ignition and S (the difference between RON and MON) is the octane sensitivity.

#### Table 2

Standard RON and MON test conditions [61,62].

Parameter	Unit	RON	MON
Inlet air temperature	°C	52	38
Inlet mixture temperature	°C	-	149
Intake air pressure	bar	Atmospheri	c
Coolant temperature	°C	100	100
Engine speed	RPM	600	900
Spark timing	°bTDC	13	14-26
Compression ratio	-	4-18	4-18
Engine displacement	L	0.619	0.619
Stroke/Bore	mm	114.3/83.1	
Intake valve closing	°bTDC	146	
Exhaust valve opening	°aTDC	140	

The engine K value can be determined by either experimental or modelling data. The experimental method relies on the correlation of an engine/vehicle performance parameter relating to a fuels' auto-ignition property with a fuel matrix where RON and MON are decorrelated. The typical engine/vehicle performance parameters are knock limited spark advance (KLSA) and acceleration time. Details regarding the experimental method can be found in [23,24,73,75–77]. For the modelling method, in-cylinder pressure data is required as an input, which can be used to calculate the in-cylinder temperature. The crank angle of auto-ignition for a matrix of PRFs and Toluene/n-Heptane mixtures (gasoline surrogate) using the Livengood-Wu integral is calculated, and then the OI of PRFs and Toluene/n-Heptane fuel mixtures is determined through the PRF calibration curve. Based on the OI, MON and RON, the K value can be calculated. In the modelling method, the reason that toluene is added into n-heptane to produce the gasoline surrogate is because the mixture has closer physiochemical properties (especially ignition delay characteristics) to gasoline than PRFs. Details about the modelling method can be found in [64.74]

The OI is such that when the K value is positive, high MON is beneficial to suppress engine knock, and vice versa [76]. Many studies have suggested that the K value is not always positive [19,23–25]. Mittal and Heywood [78] tested fuels with various combinations of RON and MON in a single-cylinder port fuel injection (PFI) SI engine with 1 bar intake manifold pressure. The experimental results showed that the K value under the studied operating condition was negative. Remmert et al. [74] studied the octane appetite and K value of a 4-cylinder DISI engine. Seven RON and MON decorrelated fuels were tested at various high load conditions with different external EGR levels, boost pressures, back pressures and air/fuel ratios. They found that under high load conditions (approximately 20-30 bar BMEP) the engine's K value was in the range of -0.26 to -1.14. Davies et al. [64] investigated the K value of several engines under high boost and EGR conditions. They found that the K value was in the range of -0.86 to 0.5. Kalghatgi [75] reported that the averaged engine K value at full throttle conditions was -0.38 for 37 SI engines ranging from NA to turbocharged (TC) and 1.2-2.4 L.

Fig. 1 shows a summary of the engine K value study results. The engine K value is dependent on engine design and technology, engine speed, engine load and intake charge pressure. Fig. 1(a) shows that the K value distributions of historic SI engines, current NA SI engines and current TC DISI engines were different under various engine operating conditions; the average K values were 0.2, 0 and -0.3, respectively. As reported in Fig. 1(b), Mittal and Heywood found that K values of vehicles manufactured between 1951 and 1991 were declining and even became negative, due to the use of advanced cooling and breathing techniques and the replacement of carburettors with fuel injectors [71]. The engine K value consistently increases with engine speed (Fig. 1(c)), and this trend is consistent with different car model years. As reported in Fig. 1(d), Kassai et al. [79] found that K values decreased with the engine intake manifold pressure (or engine load) at both 1200 and 2000 rpm engine speeds; similar results were found in [66,77,80]. Bourhis et al. [80] studied the K value of a TC 4cylinder 1.6 L DISI engine and found that the K value was positive at part load, and negative at the high engine load. Caroline et al. [77] conducted an octane sensitivity study on a 2007 Pontiac Solstice. They found that there was a clear negative correlation between the K value and intake charge pressure.

Due to variations of the engine K value for different engine design/technologies and engine operating conditions, two K values of 0 and -0.3 will be considered to represent the average engine K value for current NA DISI engines and current TC DISI engines, respectively.



Fig. 1. Summary of K value study: (a) K value distribution for historic and current engines under various operating conditions [71]; (b) averaged K value for different model year SI engines [71]; (c) averaged K value at different engine speed [71]; (d) averaged K value at different intake air pressure [66].

Overall, this section briefly reviewed the history of octane rating and K value identification in SI engines. In the next section, octane rating prediction of ethanol blends will be discussed.

#### 2.2. Octane prediction models for ethanol blends

Due to limited access to CFR engines, measuring the octane rating is not always possible; therefore, in some studies, no octane ratings of ethanol blends were given [7,10,81,82]. In this section, three reported RON and MON prediction models for ethanol blends [26,40,83,84] are discussed and compared, which are: (1) linear molar-weighted model (LMC); (2) linear volumetric-weighted model (LVC); and (3) non-linear molar-weighted model (NMC). Additionally, the authors of this paper have proposed a new and simple model which is discussed later in this section.

The LMC model is described as:

$$RON_{blend} = (1 - x_{mole}) \times RON_{base} + x_{mole} \times RON_{ethanol}$$
(2)

The LVC model is described as:

$$RON_{blend} = (1 - x_{vol}) \times RON_{base} + x_{vol} \times RON_{ethanol}$$
(3)

where  $\text{RON}_{\text{blend}}$ ,  $\text{RON}_{\text{base}}$  and  $\text{RON}_{\text{ethanol}}$  are the RON of ethanol blend, base gasoline and ethanol, respectively;  $x_{vol}$  and  $x_{mole}$  are the volumetric and molar fractions of ethanol in the ethanolgasoline blend, respectively. For the prediction of MON, the same equations can be used.

The NMC model is described as:

$$\begin{aligned} \text{RON}_{\text{blend}} &= (1 - x_{\text{mole}}) \times \text{RON}_{\text{base}} + x_{\text{mole}} \times \text{RON}_{\text{ethanol}} \\ &+ P_{\text{g}} \times x_{\text{mole}} \times (1 - x_{\text{mole}}) \times (\text{RON}_{\text{ethanol}} - \text{RON}_{\text{base}}) \end{aligned}$$
(4)

Compared to the LMC model, the NMC model has an extra nonlinear term.  $P_g$  is a scaling factor for the non-linear term, which is determined for each base gasoline by minimizing the sum of squared errors of measured and modelled octane ratings of one or a few ethanol blends. Therefore, the RON/MON of one or a few ethanol blends needs to be measured in order to estimate  $P_g$ . According to [40], for RON estimation, the  $P_g$  values were between 0.45 and 0.48 for the four base gasolines used in the study. For the prediction of MON, the same equation can be used with  $P_g$  values in the range of 0.94 and 1.21 [40].

In this paper, after analysing a large amount of data from the literature, a simpler model is proposed with inputs of ethanol volumetric content, RON of the ethanol and RON of the base gasoline. One parameter, normalized octane improvement (NOI), is used as an intermediate parameter for the RON prediction, and it is defined as:

$$NOI = \frac{RON_{blend} - RON_{base}}{RON_{ethanol} - RON_{base}} \times 100$$
(5)

Fig. 2(a) shows measured RON versus ethanol content, and those pieces of data were directly extracted from several publications [26,31,85,86]. It can be seen that the octane rating of ethanol blends increases non-linearly with increase of the ethanol volumetric content [26,31,40,85–87], and a higher marginal octane improvement is achieved with low and medium amounts of ethanol addition. This is a result of synergistic effect of ethanol interacting with alkanes in suppressing low temperature heat release. Alkanes have low-temperature oxidation chemistry involving peroxy radicals and hydroperoxyalkyl radicals, which plays a crucial role in their early ignition kinetics and produce the characteristic negative temperature coefficient region and low temperature heat release [88]. Ethanol shows a strong suppression of NTC [89]. The interaction of ethanol with alkanes is the possible reason for the non-linear octane relationship for ethanol blends.

Additionally, the high charge cooling effect of the ethanol may have been partially reflected in the measured RON with the CFR engine. Between ethanol contents of 50 and 75 vol.%, limited octane improvement was observed by adding extra ethanol into



Fig. 2. Measured RON and NOI for ethanol blends in various base fuels: (a) measured RON; (b) normalized octane improvement (data extracted from Refs. [26,31,85,86]).

the blend. Fig. 2(b) shows the NOI of ethanol blends (0–75 vol.%). All pieces of data in Fig. 2(b) were converted from the data in Fig. 2(a) using Eq. (5). In Fig. 2(b), the values of a few NOI data points exceed 100. This is because the RON of ethanol in the original literature was higher than 107, however, in the calculation of NOI, the RON of ethanol is set as 107 (the value used by the authors of this paper).

A  $2^{nd}$  order polynomial fitting line for ethanol content ranging from 0 to 75 vol.% is plotted in Fig. 2(b). The R<sup>2</sup> of the fitting line is 0.9853, therefore, it provides a good estimation. Eq. (6) shows the mathematic expression of this  $2^{nd}$  order polynomial fitting line.

$$NOI = -0.01983 \times x_{vol}^2 + 2.8512 \times x_{vol}$$
(6)

Once the RON of the base gasoline and ethanol, as well as the volumetric ethanol content are known, it is possible to calculate the RON of ethanol blends.

$$RON_{blend} = \frac{NOI \times (RON_{ethanol} - RON_{base})}{100} + RON_{base}$$
(7)

A summary of three reported models and the model proposed by authors of this paper for RON prediction of ethanol blends is presented in Fig. 3(a), along with the measured octane rating. It is proposed that the accuracy ranking of these models is: authors' model  $\approx$  NMC > LMC > LVC. The authors' model is simpler than, but as accurate as the NMC model because: (1) the NMC relies on estimation of P<sub>g</sub> by measuring the RON of at least one ethanol blends, whilst the authors' model does not, and (2) the authors' model does not need the molar calculation, which can be problematic in itself, as the molecular formula of the gasoline is not exactly known.

Both the LMC and LVC models gave conservative estimations of the octane rating of ethanol blends, and the underestimation was up to 2.5 and 6 units of RON for the LMC and LVC models, respectively. The reason that LMC model gives a higher estimation of octane rating is because the molecular fraction of vaporized ethanol blends is made equal to their molar fraction in the model. The molecular weight of ethanol (46 g/mole) is much less than that of typical hydrocarbons in gasoline (95-115 g/mole), therefore, the mole fraction of ethanol in a blend is higher than its liquid volume fraction [83], thus, the LMC model is inaccurate in this sense. The NMC model gives a good prediction of octane rating of ethanol blends by adding an extra non-linear term for correcting the underestimation in the LMC model. The error of the NMC was less than 0.3, which is as good as the authors' model. In Fig. 3, only one gasoline base fuel with RON and MON of 88 and 82 was used. A more widely distributed octane rating for gasoline base fuels was



Fig. 3. Models for octane rating prediction: (a) RON; (b) MON (data extracted from Refs. [26,40,83]).



Fig. 4. Measured MON and octane sensitivity (data extracted from Refs. [26,40,85,86]).

also tested, and the authors' model and the NMC model showed a good agreement (less then 0.5 deviation from measured values) with experimental octane ratings measured in CFR engines. A summary of three reported models for MON prediction of ethanol blends is presented in Fig. 3(b), along with the measured octane rating. The accuracy ranking of these models is: NMC > LMC > LVC.

A similar literature review regarding MON and octane sensitivity is conducted and presented in and Fig. 4. It can be seen that MON is also not linear; higher MON improvement is observed with low ethanol content. Octane sensitivity, however, is almost linear to ethanol content. The OI of ethanol blends can be expressed as:

$$OI_{blend} = \frac{NOI \times (RON_{ethanol} - RON_{base})}{100} + RON_{base} + K \times S_{blend}$$
(8)

where  $OI_{blend}$  and  $S_{blend}$  are the OI and the octane sensitivity of ethanol blend, respectively. The  $S_{blend}$  can be linearly estimated by the sensitivities of base gasoline and ethanol.

### 2.3. Optimal ethanol blend ratio

Ethanol can be used as an octane booster, as demonstrated in the above sections. Even though adding more ethanol into gasoline always leads to higher octane rating, the marginal octane improvement decreases as the ethanol content is increased. Therefore, there exists an optimal ethanol blend ratio that maximizes ethanol's octane boost effect without reducing the lower heating value of the blend unnecessarily. The question of what the optimal ethanol blending ratio, is in terms of maximizing the overall octane rating, is highly relevant in the application of ethanol blends in SI engines. The following discussion in this section focuses on finding the answer to this question.

To assess octane value changes after blending, several parameters are defined. Volumetric octane value (VOV) is defined as a parameter that has a value equal to the RON of a fuel but in a unit of #/L. Total octane value (TOV) is defined as VOV multiplied by the fuel volume. Total octane value before blending (TOV<sub>b\_blend</sub>), and the total octane value after blending (TOV<sub>a\_blend</sub>) can be calculated from Eqs. (9) and (10), assuming that there is 1 L ethanol available for blending.

$$\text{TOV}_{\text{b\_blend}} = \text{RON}_{\text{ethanol}} + \left(\frac{100}{x_{vol}} - 1\right) \times \text{RON}_{\text{base}}$$
(9)

$$TOV_{a\_blend} = RON_{blend} \times \frac{100}{x_{vol}}$$
(10)

The octane-added index (OAI) is defined as a normalized octane value improvement after ethanol blending. This parameter is used to quantitatively describing the effectiveness of using ethanol as an octane booster.

$$OAI = \frac{TOV_{a\_blend} - TOV_{b\_blend}}{TOV_{b\_blend}}$$
(11)

Fig. 5 shows the OAI of ethanol blends in various base gasolines. The data in Fig. 5(a) was calculated using some of the measured data presented in Fig. 2(a). The data in Fig. 5(b) were calculated from Eqs. (7) and (11). For every base gasoline there exists an optimised blend ratio for maximizing the OAI. This is because the octane improvement of adding ethanol into gasoline is not linear to the ethanol content. As reported in Fig. 2, low percentage ethanol blends lead to more significant improvements than the medium and high percentage ethanol blends. It can be seen from Fig. 5 that the optimised ethanol content is approximately 40 vol. %; the RON of the base fuel showed a limited impact on this optimised blend ratio.

Another method to calculate the optimal ethanol ratio for boosting the octane rating of gasoline is to calculate the RON difference between the measured points and the RON estimated from linear regression [90]. Data from Rankovic et al. [90] suggested that 40 vol.% of ethanol addition into base gasoline gave the maximum RON difference, which matches with the results in Fig. 5.

### 3. Cooling effect and the effect of octane index for ethanol blends

There are two parts in this section. First, the fuel's cooling effect in DISI engines is reviewed and quantified. Second, the partially captured cooling effect (PCCE) from the standard RON test in the CFR engine is discussed, along with the effective octane index (EOI), which accounts for the original OI and cooling effect.

### 3.1. Quantification of cooling effect for ethanol blends

In DISI engines, apart from the fuel's octane rating, the charge cooling effect of the fuel is another important contributor in suppressing knock. The charge cooling effect is related to the fuel's heat of vaporization. When fuel is injected directly into the cylinder, the fuel spray/droplet is vaporized by the heat from the warm in-cylinder gases, during which in-cylinder gas temperature drops.



Fig. 5. Octane-added index of ethanol blends in various base fuels: (a) data extracted from [31]; (b) data calculated from Eqs. (7) and (11).



Fig. 6. Heat of vaporization for ethanol blends: (a) heat of vaporization; (b) normalized heat of vaporization (data extracted from Refs. [26,31,86]).

Fig. 6 presents the heat of vaporization (HOV) of ethanol blends. The data from Fig. 6(a) was extracted from the literature and if necessary, the data converted into kJ/kg\_air at the stoichiometric air fuel ratio (AFR). The HOVs of ethanol and conventional gasoline are approximately 103 and 26 kJ per kilogram of air at stoichiometric AFR, respectively. Therefore, compared to gasoline, ethanol has a cooling effect approximately 3 times more significant.

The data from Fig. 6(b) are normalized data from Fig. 6(a), obtained by dividing the HOVs of the ethanol blends by the HOV of the base gasoline. A  $2^{nd}$  order polynomial fitting line for all data was plotted in Fig. 6(b), which has an R<sup>2</sup> value of 0.9935. Eq. (12) shows the mathematical expression of this  $2^{nd}$  order polynomial fitting line:

Normalized HOV = 
$$0.000135 \times x_{vol}^2 + 0.0189 \times x_{vol} + 1$$
 (12)

In this paper, an assumption is made that the HOV of the fuel has a linear relationship to the cooling effect in direct injection engines. This assumption is supported by the data reported in Ref. [91], where the RON and cooling effect were quantitatively separated. More detailed verification of this assumption will be presented in the second part of this section.

In order to quantitatively describe the cooling effect, a parameter, octane number from the cooling effect (ONCE), is defined. The abbreviations of  $ONCE_{gasoline}$  and  $ONCE_{ethanol}$  stand for the cooling effect of gasoline and ethanol, respectively.

Based on an study of the CR distribution of engines sold in the North American market in 2013 [92], it was found that DI engines have approximately 1 unit higher CR than PFI engines. The investigated engine models include 85 NA PFI engines (averaged CR = 10.4), 34 NA DI engines (averaged CR = 11.7), 16 boosted PFI engines (averaged CR = 9.2) and 32 boosted DI engines (averaged CR = 9.8). The increase of CR in DI engines is mainly due to the charge cooling effect. Therefore,  $ONCE_{gasoline}$  leads to a 1 unit increase of CR. For gasoline engines, every 4 units increase of octane number (ON) allow a 1 unit increase of CR, which will be explained in detail in a later section. Therefore, it is assumed that ONCEgasoline is equal to 4 units of ON. Compared to base gasoline, the additional cooling effect from the ethanol blends equals to:

$$\Delta ONCE = ONCE_{blend} - ONCE_{gasoline}$$
  
= (0.000135 ×  $x_{vol}^2$  + 0.0189 ×  $x_{vol}$  + 1 - 1) × 4  
= 0.00054 ×  $x_{vol}^2$  + 0.0756 ×  $x_{vol}$  (13)

There is some data available for describing the ONCE of ethanol blends in the literature. Fig. 7 shows the cooling effect of ethanol blends published in [28,31]. The red line on the figure is plotted by using data calculated from Eq. (13). It can be seen that, compared to the literature data, the red line derived from HOVs gives conservative estimations of the cooling effect of ethanol blends. For example, the underestimation for E40 is approximately 2.5 units of octane. It was consequently decided that in this study, the literature data would be used to estimate the  $\Delta$ ONCE between ethanol blends and base gasoline, which is expressed as follow:

$$\Delta ONCE = ONCE_{blend} - ONCE_{base} = 0.1543 \times x_{vol}$$
(14)

## 3.2. Partially captured cooling effect in standard RON Test, and Effective OI

The cooling effect of ethanol blends is partially captured in the standard RON test. In the standard RON test in the CFR engine, the intake air is heated up to 52 °C (see Table 2). The temperature of the air and fuel mixture entering the engine varies, depending on the HOV of the fuel. Before the fuel enters the cylinder, it evaporates and mixes with the air by absorbing heat from the intake air, engine components and intake value. Gasoline can be vaporized prior to entry into the CFR engine [91]. However, for blends with a high ethanol content, the fuel is only partially vaporized and there exists a near-saturated and potentially two-phase air/fuel mixture during the induction process [91].

Foong et al. [91] designed a so-called 'modified RON' test by modifying the intake system in the CFR engine for the study of the effect of charge cooling on the RON measurement. In the modified intake system, the temperature of the air-fuel mixture entering the engine was maintained at 36 °C, which is the intake air-fuel mixture temperature that is measured during the standard RON test when only primary reference fuels (PRFs) are used. At this temperature, the air-fuel mixture was not saturated when entering the CFR engine, even for the air-ethanol mixture. They modelled the thermodynamics of the air-fuel mixture preparation in this modified RON test; and they concluded that ethanol blends were fully vaporized prior to compression and that the temperature during the compression stroke was similar to those in primary reference fuels. Thus, the modified RON tests only captured the autoignition chemistry effect from ethanol blends. By comparing the RON results from standard and modified tests, the partial cooling effect captured by the standard RON test in the CFR engine was



Fig. 7. ONCE improvement in ethanol blends (data extracted from Refs. [28,31]).

quantified. Fig. 8 shows the results from standard and modified RON tests, along with the RON deviation from these two tests.

From Fig. 8, it can be seen that for ethanol content less than 20 vol.%, the rate of RON deviation versus ethanol content was much lower than that for ethanol content higher than 40 vol.%. This is because as ethanol addition exceeded approximately 20 vol.%, the ethanol vapour was fully saturated; adding more ethanol into the blends led to the cooling effect from the extra ethanol addition being fully captured in the RON test. The RON difference between the standard and modified tests had a strong linear relationship to the ethanol content, from 40 vol.% to 100 vol.%. Since the HOV of ethanol blends is almost linear to ethanol content, it is safe to assume that the cooling effect is linear to HOV in DISI engines, an assumption made in the first part of this section.

Based on Fig. 8 [91], the partially captured cooling effect (PCCE) in the standard RON test can be quantified as:

$$PCCE = 0.00028 \times x_{vol}^2 + 0.0200 \times x_{vol}$$
(15)

In DI engines, the EOI of ethanol blends, which accounts for the original OI and cooling effect, is defined as:

$$EOI = OI + (ONCE - PCCE)$$
  
= (RON - K × S) + (ONCE - PCCE)  
= (RON - PCCE) - K × S + ONCE (16)

In this paper, it is defined that "RON–PCCE" represents the chemical effect on the anti-knock property of fuel, " $-K \times S$ " represents the octane sensitivity effect, and ONCE, as defined earlier, represents the cooling effect.

Therefore, EOI = chemical effect + octane sensitivity effect + cooling effect.

The difference in EOI between base gasoline fuel and ethanol blends in DISI engines is given by:

$$\Delta EOI = RON_{blend} - RON_{base} - PCCE - K \times \Delta S + \Delta ONCE$$
(17)

Overall, this section analysed the HOV and cooling effect of ethanol blends, along with the PCCE during the standard RON test. Finally, the EOI of ethanol blends was discussed. The purpose of this section is to determine the EOI improvement of ethanol blends in comparison with base gasoline, for the purpose of estimating potential CR increase of using ethanol blends, which will be presented in the next section.



Fig. 8. Results from standard and modified RON test (data extracted from Ref. [91]).

Table 3	
Summary of RON	and CR study.

RON/CR	RON	CR	Reference
2,5	RON91-E10/RON96-E20sp	10:1/11,9:1	Ford and AVL [85]
2,4	RON95/RON 107-E100	10:1/15:1	Aachen University [94]
3	RON91-E10/RON99-E30sp	10:1/13:1	Oak Ridge National Lab [93]
3	RON89-E0/RON97-E30sp	NA	Ford [28]
3,3	RON91-E10/RON101-E30sp	10:1/13:1	Ford and AVL [85]
3,5	RON89-E0/RON92,6-E10sp	NA	Ford [28]
3,5	RON89-E0/RON95,8-E20sp	NA	Ford [28]
3,5	RON95/RON102	10.2:1/12.2:1	BP [95]
3,5	RON95/RON102-E20sp	10:1/12,2:1	Aachen University [94]
3,6	AKI87-E0/RON101-E30sp	9,2:1/12:1	Oak Ridge National Lab [93]
5	RON88/RON108-E75	10:1/14:1	AVL, BP and Ford [31]

### 4. Compression ratio and engine thermal efficiency

Many studies have focused on the application of ethanol blends in the SI engine with an adapted CR [28,31,85,93-95]. The two key questions are: (1) how much ON improvement is required to be able to increase one unit of CR and (2) how much engine thermal efficiency can be gained by increasing one unit of CR. This section discusses the answers to these two questions by comprehensively reviewing the relevant literature. The final answers to these two questions are empirical, since the combustion characteristics in the two engines with the base CR (base fuel) and the high CR (high octane fuel) should remain the same. However, this is challenging, or even impossible to achieve within the entire engine operating map. Therefore, the data published by OEMs are highly valuable, since they mostly choose the CR of the passenger vehicles based on the main-grade gasoline available in the market. Different markets for example US and EU, have different gasoline fuel standards, which forces OEMs to conduct a lot of research on CR adaptation and relevant engine calibration. Additionally, the large number of cases reviewed in this study increases the credibility of empirical answers.

### 4.1. Compression ratio

Table 3 summarises the CR improvements enabled by the use of high octane rated fuels. Fig. 9 shows the bar chart and statistical analysis of data listed in Table 3 and other references mentioned in Ref. [92]. In Fig. 9, reference codes were given in the x axis; and their corresponding reference numbers are provided in the



**Fig. 9.** Octane number required for 1 unit increase in CR (Reference Code: A = [85]; B = [94]; C = [93]; D = [28]; E = [85]; F = [28]; G = [28]; H = [95]; I = [94]; J = [93]; K = [31]; L = [97]; M = [98]; N = [98]; O = [99]; P = [100]; Q = [101]; R = [102]).

caption. The statistical analysis shows that approximately every 3.9 units of ON enables a 1 unit increase of CR.

Splitter et al. [93] from Oak Ridge National Lab experimentally investigated spark-ignited combustion with E0 (RON 90 and MON 84) and E30 (RON 100 and MON 89). A single-cylinder research engine was used with a low and a high CR of 9.20:1 and 11.85:1, respectively. All fuels were operated at full-load conditions with  $\lambda$  = 1, using 0% or 15% external cooled EGR. Using E30 with the CR of 11.85:1 led to the same onset knock load as E0 with the CR of 9.20:1, representing 3.8 ON/CR. In Ref. [92], the authors from Ford and General Motors suggested that 3 units of ON was necessary for a 1 unit increase of CR. Heywood et al. [43] from MIT suggested that 4–5 units of ON was required for a 1 unit increase of CR.

The estimation in the literature varies, depending on engine technology, geometry, and operating conditions. As mentioned in the beginning of this section, it is hard to assume that the knocking behaviour in all configurations presented in the literature is the same, however, by summarising a wide arrange of literature, especially the data published by engine/vehicle OEMs, and by comparing the estimation made by other research institutes, the risk of underestimating or overestimating the unit of ON required to increase one unit of CR can be reduced.

Considering the literature data in Fig. 9, and the suggestion from Refs. [43,92], in this study, an empirical assumption, 4 ON/ CR, is suggested for the prediction of CR improvement resulting from the use of high octane rated fuels.

# 4.2. Engine thermal efficiency improvement from increased CR and flame speed

This section covers the estimation of engine thermal efficiency gain by using ethanol blends due to the increase of CR and flame speed. Engine thermal efficiency depends on various factors: such as engine design, combustion chamber design, engine operating conditions (load and speed) and the fuel being used. However, when the engine operating parameters and engine design (apart from CR) are the same, the most influential factors on thermal efficiency are the CR and fuel property. In this study, the use of splashblended ethanol blends enables a higher CR. In addition, ethanol has a higher flame speed, therefore, ethanol blends benefit from a faster burning rate. Faster burning is beneficial for SI engines because more fuel is burned during the most optimum part of the engine cycle. Thus, both high CR and a faster burning rate contribute to a higher engine thermal efficiency.

Eq. (18) shows the calculation of engine thermal efficiency, where the lower calorific value is used for the fuel energy input calculation.

Engine theraml efficiency =  $\frac{\text{Work exerted on the piston per cycle}}{\text{Fuel energy input per cycle}}$ 

In this paper, the intention is not to comment on the specific engine thermal efficiency at certain operating conditions. The intention is to show empirical estimations of engine thermal efficiencies across the entire engine map using various ethanol blends.

Fig. 10(a) presents the relative thermal efficiency gain at various CRs. Fig. 10(b) shows the thermal efficiency gain rate per CR calculated from the data presented in Fig. 10(a). In both Fig. 10 (a) and (b), the reference codes are given in the legend or x axis, and their corresponding reference numbers are provided in the caption. For the reference code 'L', the thermal efficiency gain was calculated based on the theoretical ideal Otto cycle using the equation:  $\eta = 1-1/(CR^{\gamma-1})$ .  $\gamma = C_p/C_v$ , where  $C_p$  and  $C_v$  are the specific heat of gas at constant pressure and volume, respectively. In Fig. 10, only data with a CR in the range of 8:1–14:1, was chosen to be presented. This is based on the CR distribution of engines currently on the market. In modern gasoline engines, OEMs generally choose a CR in the range of 8:1–13:1. There are barely any gasoline engines with a CR higher than 13, with Mazda claiming that their SKYACTIV gasoline engine has the world's highest CR (14:1) in the marketplace of mass production gasoline engines. Normally, for CRs above 12:1, the Atkinson or Miller cycle is used with variable valve timing or a twin-cam mechanism.

When a linear best fitting line is plotted for any cases presented in Fig. 10(a), the fitting line has an  $R^2$  of at least 0.9600. Therefore, even though it is true that engine thermal efficiency gain reduces with CR due to the increase in surface/volume ratio and other factors, within the CR range of 8:1–14:1 it is reasonable to assume that engine thermal efficiency improvement is linear to CR.

In Fig. 10(b), a statistical analysis of all data points is given. It shows that an average thermal efficiency gain per 1 unit of CR is 0.018 (1.8%). Paul Miles from the Combustion Research Facility in Sandia National Laboratories suggested that 1.6–2.0% is a good estimation for engine thermal efficiency gain per unit increase of CR [43]. The estimation of 1.8% falls in between 1.6% and 2%; therefore, the assumption of 1.8% thermal efficiency gain per CR is used in this study.

Apart from the fuel's octane rating and the CR, there are a few other factors that are important in regards to their effect on engine thermal efficiency, such as flame speed and engine downsizing. Flame speed is an important parameter for gasoline fuels. Engine knocking occurs when the end gas in the combustion chamber is auto-ignited before the flame ignites it, therefore, higher flame speed help to reduce the engine's knocking tendency and thus they increase the engine's thermal efficiency by allowing more advanced ignition timings. It is also well known that gasoline fuels with high flame speeds are more favourable for a lean burn combustion mode; and they are more tolerable to a higher EGR rate, and more fuel is burned during the most optimum part of the engine cycle.

According to the data published in Ref. [42], increasing laminar flame speed from 0.42 to 0.47 m/s enables a 1.47% gain of engine thermal efficiency. Typical laminar flame speeds for gasoline and ethanol at atmospheric pressure and temperature are 0.44 and 0.55 m/s, respectively [43]. Assuming that the laminar flame speed increases linearly with the ethanol content, which is also the case in Ref. [42], every 10 vol.% ethanol increase in fuel blend leads to a 0.32% increase in thermal efficiency. In Ref. [43], it is suggested that a 1% increase in thermal efficiency is achievable when the flame speed is increased from 0.43 to 0.46 m/s. In other words, every 10% ethanol increase in fuel blends leads to a 0.37% improvement in engine thermal efficiency due to the flame speed. In this paper, a conservative value (0.20%) will be used for the estimation of the increase of engine thermal efficiency for every 10 vol.% increase of ethanol content in blends.

Engine downsizing is a technology that increases engine thermal efficiency by forcing an engine to operate at more efficient high load regimes, instead of operating at low load regimes where pumping losses significantly reduce engine thermal efficiencies. In Ref. [92], it is suggested that the thermal efficiency increase multiplier from additional engine downsizing for TC DI engines is 1.1.

### 5. Case studies for ethanol blends in SI engines

In this section, case studies for ethanol blends in SI engines are presented. The selected SI engines for these case studies include NA DISI engines, and TC DISI engines, representing current and future technologies. K values, 0 and -0.3, will be considered to represent the average engine K value for NA DISI engines and TC DISI engines, respectively. The justification of selecting these K values is provided in the earlier section.

Two base fuels are selected for these case studies. The first base fuel has a RON and S of 92 and 10 (AKI = 87), respectively, and a LHV of 41 MJ/kg, representing the main-grade gasoline available in the US market. The justification is based on a fuel survey conducted for the US main-grade gasolines in 2013 [96]; about 459 winter and summer samples from 30 major metropolitan areas



**Fig. 10.** Thermal efficiency at various compression ratios: (a) thermal efficiency gain relative to base CR; (b) thermal efficiency gain per CR (Reference Code: A = [103]; B = [104]; C = [105]; D = [105]; E = [85]; F = [85]; G = [106]; H = [107]; I = [108]; J = [109]; K = [110]; L = ideal Otto cycle).



Fig. 11. Octane sensitivity, MON and RON distributions of fuel samples in the US market in 2013 (data source: Ref. [96]).



**Fig. 12.** Summary of octane related parameters for ethanol blends (RON<sub>base</sub> = 92; S = 10; LHV<sub>base</sub> = 41 MJ/kg; LHV<sub>ethanol</sub> = 26.7 MJ/kg; K = 0 for the NA DISI engine; K = -0.3 for the TC DISI engine).

were surveyed. The summary of this survey is presented in Fig. 11. The second base fuel has a RON and MON of 84 and 74 (AKI = 80), respectively, and a LHV of 41 MJ/kg. The blend of 10 vol.% ethanol into the second base fuel leads to E10 that has a RON and S of 90 and 10.8 (AKI = 87), respectively, also representing the maingrade gasoline available in the US market.

Fig. 12 summaries the octane related parameters for ethanol blends in the range of EO–E70. As mentioned earlier, EOI = chemical effect + octane sensitivity effect + cooling effect, in which the chemical effect is equal to RON minus PCCE (RON-PCCE), the octane sensitivity effect is equal to -K \* S, and the cooling effect is equal to ONCE. From Fig. 12, it is clear that the ranking of these factors is: chemical effect > cooling effect > octane sensitivity effect. As the ethanol content is increased, the increased rate of the cooling effect is higher than that of the chemical effect. For E70, the difference between the chemical effect and cooling effect is less than only two units. Since the K value for TC DISI engines is set as -0.3, and the octane sensitivity difference is only 5.6 for E70, the octane sensitivity effect for E70 is only 1.7 units higher than that of the base gasoline.

Fig. 13(a) shows the engine thermal efficiency gain and LHV reduction for ethanol blends in the range of E0–E70. The reduction of LHV is linear to the ethanol content, whilst the marginal thermal



Fig. 13. Engine thermal efficiency gain and LHV reduction for ethanol blends (RON<sub>base</sub> = 92; S = 10; LHV<sub>base</sub> = 41 MJ/kg; LHV<sub>ethanol</sub> = 26.7 MJ/kg; K = 0 for the NA DISI engine; K = -0.3 for the TC DISI engine).



Fig. 14. Breakdown of relative engine thermal efficiency gain: (a) TC DISI engines; (b) NA DISI engines; (RON<sub>base</sub> = 92; S = 10; LHV<sub>base</sub> = 41 MJ/kg; LHV<sub>ethanol</sub> = 26.7 MJ/kg; K = 0 for the NA DISI engine; K = -0.3 for the TC DISI engine).

efficiency gain decreases with ethanol content. The vehicle's mileage range could be reduced due to the use of low energy density ethanol blends. However, the reduced LHV can be partially or even completely offset by improved engine thermal efficiency. For the NA DISI engine, the engine thermal efficiency gain is always less than the LHV reduction, whilst for the TC DISI engine, the thermal efficiency gain outweighs the LHV reduction for ethanol blends up to E14. Due to the extra octane sensitivity effect, there is more engine thermal efficiency gains for TC DISI than NA DISI.

In this paper, the vehicle mileage range reduction is simply calculated by subtracting the absolute value of LHV reduction by the engine thermal efficiency gain ( $|\Delta LHV|-\Delta\eta$ ). The results are presented in Fig. 13(b). Overall, Fig. 13(b) demonstrates the possibility of using high ethanol blends without significantly deteriorating the

vehicle mileage range. If a maximum of 2% mileage reduction is considered as acceptable, the maximum ethanol content allowed is approximately 30 vol.% and 43 vol.% for NA DISI and TC DISI engines, respectively. If a maximum of 5% mileage reduction is considered as acceptable, the maximum ethanol content allowed is approximately 52 vol.% and 63 vol.% for NA DISI and TC DISI engines, respectively. The LHV of base gasoline is assumed to be 41 MJ/kg, which is within the normal range of gasoline fuels. If the LHV of base gasoline is higher than 41 MJ/kg, the reduction of LHV for ethanol blends presented in Fig. 13(a) would be underestimated, and vice versa.

Fig. 14 shows the breakdown of engine thermal efficiency gain under various ethanol blends for NA DISI and TC DISI engines. The contributors to the improved engine thermal efficiency are the



Fig. 15. Breakdown of Engine thermal efficiency gain for TC DISI engines: (a) E10; (b) E20; (c)E30; (d) E50 (RON<sub>base</sub> = 92; S = 10; LHV<sub>base</sub> = 41 MJ/kg; LHV<sub>ethanol</sub> = 26.7 MJ/kg; K = -0.3 for the TC DISI engine).

Table 4			
Summary of results of the case stu	ly for ethanol blends in NA DISI eng	gines using a base fuel with	RON of 84 and S of 10.

Ethanol content Vol.%	∆ONCE	$\Delta RON - PCCE$	ΔEOI	$\eta$ gain from improved CR $\%$	η gain from flame speed %	Total η gain %	LHV reduction %	LHV reduction - η %
0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
1	0.15	0.63	0.78	0.35	0.02	0.37	0.29	-0.08
3	0.46	1.86	2.32	1.05	0.06	1.11	0.87	-0.24
4	0.62	2.46	3.08	1.39	0.08	1.47	1.16	-0.31
5	0.77	3.05	3.83	1.72	0.10	1.82	1.45	-0.37
6	0.93	3.64	4.56	2.05	0.12	2.17	1.74	-0.43
7	1.08	4.21	5.29	2.38	0.14	2.52	2.03	-0.49
8	1.23	4.77	6.00	2.70	0.16	2.86	2.32	-0.54
9	1.39	5.32	6.71	3.02	0.18	3.20	2.61	-0.59
10	1.54	5.87	7.41	3.33	0.20	3.53	2.90	-0.63
15	2.31	8.43	10.75	4.84	0.30	5.14	4.35	-0.79
20	3.09	10.76	13.85	6.23	0.40	6.63	5.80	-0.83
25	3.86	12.84	16.70	7.51	0.50	8.01	7.25	-0.77
30	4.63	14.68	19.31	8.69	0.60	9.29	8.70	-0.59
35	5.40	16.28	21.68	9.75	0.70	10.45	10.15	-0.31
40	6.17	17.63	23.80	10.71	0.80	11.51	11.60	0.09
45	6.94	18.74	25.68	11.56	0.90	12.46	13.05	0.59
50	7.72	19.61	27.32	12.29	1.00	13.29	14.50	1.20
52	8.02	19.89	27.91	12.56	1.04	13.60	15.08	1.48
60	9.26	20.61	29.87	13.44	1.20	14.64	17.40	2.76
70	10.80	20.64	31.44	14.15	1.40	15.55	20.30	4.75

fuel's chemical effect, cooling effect and its octane sensitivity effect, as well as its improved laminar flame speed and the engine downsizing it enables. For the TC DISI engine, the contribution ranking is: chemical effect > cooling effect > downsizing effect  $\approx$  - flame speed effect > octane sensitivity effect. The contribution of the chemical effect to the engine thermal efficiency gain reduces with ethanol content. For the NA DISI engine, only the chemical effect, cooling effect and flame speed effect contribute to the gains of engine thermal efficiency. The absolute magnitudes of their contributions are the same as those for the TC DISI engines.

Fig. 15 shows a more detailed breakdown of engine thermal efficiency gains for TC DISI engines when using E10, E20, E30 and E50 as fuels. The majority of the thermal efficiency gains are achieved due to chemical effect. For E10, the contribution of the chemical effect is 57%, and it reduced to 48% for E50. The dominance of the chemical effect reduces with increased ethanol

content, due to the non-linear improvement of the octane rating with ethanol content. The contribution of the cooling effect increased from 23% for E10 to 30% for E50. Since the downsizing multiplication factor for TC DISI engines is set at 1.1, the contribution of engine downsizing is fixed at 9.1%. The contribution of flame speed increases from 6.8% for E10 to 8.7% for E50. The contribution of octane sensitivity increases from 3.7% for E10 to 4.7% for E50.

The summary of results for these case studies for using a base fuel with a RON and S of 84 and 10 (AKI = 80), respectively, and LHV of 41 MJ/kg, are presented in Tables 4 and 5 for NA DISI and TC DISI engines, respectively. The blend of 10 vol.% ethanol into the second base fuel leads to a E10 that has a RON and S of 90 and 10.8 (AKI = 87), respectively, also representing the maingrade E10 available in the US market. The results presented in Tables 4 and 5 show a similar trend with the results presented in

#### Table 5

Summary of results of the case study for ethanol blends in TC DISI engines using a base fuel with RON of 84 and S of 10.

Ethanol content	ΔONCE	ΔRON - PCCE	Octane sensitivity effect	ΔΕΟΙ	η gain from improved CR	η gain from downsizing	η gain from flame speed	Total η gain	LHV reduction	LHV reduction -
Vol.%					%	%	%	%	%	η %
0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
1	0.15	0.63	0.02	0.81	0.36	0.04	0.02	0.42	0.29	-0.13
3	0.46	1.86	0.07	2.40	1.08	0.11	0.06	1.25	0.87	-0.38
4	0.62	2.46	0.10	3.18	1.43	0.15	0.08	1.66	1.16	-0.50
5	0.77	3.05	0.12	3.95	1.78	0.19	0.10	2.06	1.45	-0.61
6	0.93	3.64	0.14	4.71	2.12	0.22	0.12	2.46	1.74	-0.72
7	1.08	4.21	0.17	5.46	2.46	0.26	0.14	2.85	2.03	-0.82
8	1.23	4.77	0.19	6.20	2.79	0.29	0.16	3.24	2.32	-0.92
9	1.39	5.32	0.22	6.93	3.12	0.33	0.18	3.63	2.61	-1.02
10	1.54	5.87	0.24	7.65	3.44	0.36	0.20	4.01	2.90	-1.11
13.5	2.08	7.69	0.32	10.10	4.54	0.48	0.27	5.29	3.91	-1.38
15	2.31	8.43	0.36	11.11	5.00	0.53	0.30	5.83	4.35	-1.48
20	3.09	10.76	0.48	14.33	6.45	0.68	0.40	7.53	5.80	-1.73
25	3.86	12.84	0.60	17.30	7.78	0.83	0.50	9.11	7.25	-1.86
30	4.63	14.68	0.72	20.03	9.01	0.96	0.60	10.57	8.70	-1.88
35	5.40	16.28	0.84	22.52	10.13	1.08	0.70	11.92	10.15	-1.77
40	6.17	17.63	0.96	24.76	11.14	1.19	0.80	13.14	11.60	-1.54
45	6.94	18.74	1.08	26.76	12.04	1.29	0.90	14.24	13.05	-1.19
50	7.72	19.61	1.20	28.52	12.83	1.38	1.00	15.22	14.50	-0.72
60	9.26	20.61	1.44	31.31	14.09	1.53	1.20	16.82	17.40	0.58
63	9.72	20.72	1.51	31.96	14.38	1.56	1.26	17.20	18.27	1.06
70	10.80	20.64	1.68	33.12	14.91	1.63	1.40	17.94	20.30	2.36

Figs. 12–15 where a base fuel with an AKI of 87 is used. Compared to the ethanol blends with a base fuel that has an AKI of 87, the ethanol blends with a base fuel that has an AKI of 80 showed a greater potential of engine thermal efficiency gains due to more improvement in the octane rating. For example, in a NA DISI engine, the breakeven ethanol content for a matched vehicle mileage range with the AKI80 base fuel is 40 vol.%, whilst when the AKI 87 base fuel is used, there is not an ethanol content that allows a breakeven vehicle mileage range. In a TC DISI engine, the breakeven ethanol content for a matched vehicle mileage range with the AKI80 base fuel is 55 vol.%, whilst it is 14 vol.% for the AKI87 base fuel.

### 6. Conclusions

In this study, a critical review and discussion regarding the application of ethanol blends in spark ignition engines is provided. The focuses of this study are on the octane rating, cooling effect, compression ratio increase, potential engine efficiency improvement and possible vehicle mileage range reduction. The following are the main conclusions:

- The history of octane rating definition and measurement in CFR engines are reviewed. It has been proven that RON is a good indication of fuel's anti-knock characteristics, but MON showed a poor correlation. The octane index is proposed in the literature as a better indicator for characterizing the octane appetite of modern SI engines.
- 2. Three reported RON and MON prediction models for ethanol blends are discussed and compared, including linear molar-weighted model (LMC), linear volumetric-weighted model (LVC) and non-linear molar-weighted model (NMC). Additionally, the authors of this paper proposed a new and simple model. It is proposed that the accuracy ranking of these models is: authors' model ≈ NMC > LMC > LVC.
- 3. The octane-added index (OAI) was proposed to describe the effectiveness of using ethanol as an octane booster. There exists an optimised ethanol-blend ratio (40 vol.% ethanol in blends) that gives the maximum octane value. This optimised blend ratio is insensitive to the octane rating of the base gasoline.
- 4. The cooling effect of ethanol is quantitatively described as an equivalent octane number. The partially captured cooling effect during the standard RON test is also reviewed and quantified. It is proven that the cooling effect is a significant factor for suppressing engine knocking.
- 5. A prediction tool for engine thermal efficiency gain for ethanol blends was proposed. When adapted compression ratio and turbo-charging are used, the vehicle mileage reduction caused by the low energy density of ethanol can be partially or even fully offset by improved efficiency. When ethanol is blended with a base fuel that has a RON and MON of 92 and 82 (AKI = 87), respectively, and a LHV of 41 MJ/kg, if a maximum of 5% mileage reduction is considered as acceptable, the maximum ethanol content allowed is approximately 52 vol.% and 63 vol.% for NA DISI and TC DISI engines, respectively.
- 6. The contributors to the improved engine thermal efficiency are the fuel's chemical effect, cooling effect and its octane sensitivity effect, as well as its improved laminar flame speed and the engine downsizing it enables. The contribution ranking is: chemical effect > cooling effect > downsizing effect ≈ flame speed effect > octane sensitivity effect.

**Limitation of this review:** In this paper, many assumptions based on literature data are made. For example, the selection of required octane improvement for enabling one unit increase of

CR is empirical. Ideally, the combustion characteristics of the two engines with the base CR (base fuel) and the high CR (high octane fuel) should be kept the same. However, this is challenging, or even impossible, to achieve across the entire engine operating map. The K values, 0 and -0.3, are considered to represent the average engine K value for NA DISI engines and TC DISI engines, respectively. In reality, K values vary across the entire engine operating map. All of the above assumptions may lead to errors of the final estimation of engine thermal efficiency gains and vehicle mileage range reductions. Nevertheless, this paper presents a methodology of analysing the impact of ethanol blends on modern SI engines in terms of potential engine thermal efficiency gains and vehicle mileage range reduction. More experimental data is welcomed to verify/improve the assumptions/conclusions made in this paper.

### Acknowledgment

Dr. Chongming Wang is financially supported by the European Commission through the Marie Curie Program (PIAP-GA-2013-610897 GENFUEL). Dr. Liming Xiang is financially supported by the Natural Science Foundation of Hubei Province of China (No. 2015CFC800).

### References

- Lennartsson PR, Erlandsson P, Taherzadeh MJ. Integration of the first and second generation bioethanol processes and the importance of by-products. Bioresour Technol 2014;165:3–8.
- [2] Hsieh W-D, Chen R-H, Wu T-L, Lin T-H. Engine performance and pollutant emission of an SI engine using ethanol–gasoline blended fuels. Atmos Environ 2002;36:403–10.
- [3] Yüksel F, Yüksel B. The use of ethanol-gasoline blend as a fuel in an SI engine. Renew Energy 2004;29:1181–91.
- [4] Kapus PE, Fuerhapter A, Fuchs H, Fraidl GK. Ethanol direct injection on turbocharged SI engines-potential and challenges. SAE technical paper 2007-01-1408; 2007.
- [5] Kar K, Cheng W, Ishii K. Effects of ethanol content on gasohol PFI engine wideopen-throttle operation. 2009.
- [6] Wallner T, Miers SA, McConnell S. A comparison of ethanol and butanol as oxygenates using a direct-injection, spark-ignition engine. J Eng Gas Turbines Power 2009;131:032802.
- [7] Daniel R, Wang C, Tian G, Xu H, Richardson D. Dual-Injection as a knock mitigation strategy using pure ethanol and methanol. SAE international 2012-01-1152; 2012.
- [8] Wang C, Xu H, Herreros JM, Wang J, Cracknell R. Impact of fuel and injection system on PM emissions from a DISI engine. Appl Energy 2014;132:178–91.
- [9] Wang CM, Xu HM, Daniel R, Ghafourian A, Herreros JM, Shuai SJ, et al. Combustion characteristics and emissions of 2-methylfuran compared to 2,5dimethylfuran, gasoline and ethanol in a DISI engine. Fuel 2013;103:200–11.
- [10] Wang CM, Xu HM, Herreros JM, Lattimore T, Shuai SJ. Fuel effect on particulate matter composition and soot oxidation in a direct-injection spark ignition (DISI) engine. Energy Fuels 2014;28:2003–12.
- [11] Daniel R, Tian G, Xu H, Wyszynski ML, Wu X, Huang Z. Effect of spark timing and load on a DISI engine fuelled with 2,5-dimethylfuran. Fuel 2011;90:449–58.
- [12] Di Iorio S, Lazzaro M, Sementa P, Vaglieco BM, Catapano F. Particle size distributions from a DI high performance si engine fuelled with gasolineethanol blended fuels. SAE international 2011-24-0211; 2011.
- [13] Catapano F, Di Iorio S, Lazzaro M, Sementa P, Vaglieco BM. Characterization of ethanol blends combustion processes and soot formation in a GDI optical engine. SAE international 2013-01-1316; 2013.
- [14] Taniguchi S, Yoshida K, Tsukasaki Y. Feasibility study of ethanol applications to a direct Injection gasoline engine journal. SAE international 2007-01-2037; 2007.
- [15] Ashida T, Takei Y, Hosi H. Effects of fuel properties on SIDI fuel injector deposit. SAE international 2001-01-3694; 2001.
- [16] DuMont RJ, Cunningham LJ, Oliver MK, Studzinski MK, Galante-Fox JM. Controlling induction system deposits in flexible fuel vehicles operating on E85. SAE international 2007-01-4071; 2007.
- [17] DuMont RJ, Evans JA, Feist DP, Studzinski WM, Cushing TJ. Test and control of fuel injector deposits in direct injected spark ignition vehicles. SAE international 2009-01-2641; 2009.
- [18] Russell M, Cummings J, Cushing T, Studzinski W. Cellulosic ethanol fuel quality evaluation and its effects on PFI intake valve deposits and GDI fuel injector plugging performance. SAE international 2013-01-0885; 2013.
- [19] Davies T, Cracknell R, Lovett G, Cruff L, Fowler J. Fuel effects in a boosted DISI engine. SAE Technical Paper 2011-01-1985; 2011.

- [20] Sakai S, Rothamer D. Physical and chemical properties of ethanol/gasoline blends and their effects on combustion in spark-ignition engines; 2015.
- [21] West B. High octane ethanol blends for improved vehicle efficiency. Oak Ridge National Laboratory; 2015.
- [22] Caton PA, Hamilton LJ, Cowart JS. An experimental and modeling investigation into the comparative knock and performance characteristics of E85, gasohol [E10] and regular unleaded gasoline [87 (R+M)/2]. SAE international 2007-01-0473; 2007.
- [23] Kalghatgi G. Fuel anti-knock quality-Part I: engine studies. SAE Technical Paper 2001-01-3584. 2001.
- [24] Kalghatgi GT, Nakata K, Mogi K. Octane appetite studies in direct injection spark ignition (DISI) engines. SAE technical paper 2005-01-0244; 2005.
- [25] Risberg P, Kalghatgi G, Angstrom H-E. Auto-ignition quality of gasoline-like fuels in HCCI engines. SAE technical paper 2003-01-3215; 2003.
- [26] Stein RA, Anderson JE, Wallington TJ. An overview of the effects of ethanolgasoline blends on SI engine performance, fuel efficiency, and emissions. SAE Int J Engines 2013;6:470–87.
- [27] Heywood JB. Internal combustion engine fundamentals. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1989.
- [28] Anderson J, DiCicco D, Ginder J, Kramer U, Leone T, Raney-Pablo H, et al. High octane number ethanol–gasoline blends: quantifying the potential benefits in the United States. Fuel 2012;97:585–94.
- [29] Cooney CP, Worm JJ, Naber JD. Combustion characterization in an internal combustion engine with ethanol-gasoline blended fuels varying compression ratios and ignition timing. Energy Fuels 2009;23:2319–24.
  [30] Goswami A, Vashist S, Nayyar A. Effect of compression ratio on the
- [30] Goswami A, Vashist S, Nayyar A. Effect of compression ratio on the performance characteristics of spark ignition engine fueled with alternative fuels: a review. SAE technical paper 2015-01-0766; 2015.
- [31] Stein RA, Polovina D, Roth K, Foster M, Lynskey M, Whiting T, et al. Effect of heat of vaporization, chemical octane, and sensitivity on knock limit for ethanol – gasoline blends. SAE Int J Fuels Lubr 2012;5:823–43.
- [32] Pielecha I, Maslennikov D, Wislocki K. Optical research of spray development of E85 fuel in high pressure gasoline direct injection system. SAE technical paper 2010-01-2285; 2010.
- [33] Stein RA, House CJ, Leone TG. Optimal use of E85 in a turbocharged direct injection engine. SAE technical paper 2009-01-1490; 2009.
- [34] Nakata K, Utsumi S, Ota A, Kawatake K. The effect of ethanol fuel on a spark ignition engine. SAE international 2006-01-3380; 2006.
- [35] Zhuang Y, Hong G. Effects of direct injection timing of ethanol fuel on engine knock and lean burn in a port injection gasoline engine. Fuel 2014;135:27–37.
- [36] Gingrich J, Alger T, Sullivan B. Ethanol Flex-fuel engine improvements with exhaust gas recirculation and hydrogen enrichment. 2009.
- [37] Chiba F, Ichinose H, Morita K, Yoshioka M, Noguchi Y, Tsukagoshi T. High concentration ethanol effect on SI engine emission. SAE international 2010-01-1268; 2010.
- [38] Zhuang Y, Hong G. Investigation to leveraging effect of ethanol direct injection (EDI) in a gasoline port injection (GPI) engine. SAE international 2013-01-1322; 2013.
- [39] Charoenphonphanich C, Imerb W, Karin P, Chollacoop N, Hanamura K. Low temperature starting techniques for ethanol engine without secondary fuel tank. SAE technical paper 2011-32-0552; 2011.
- [40] Anderson JE, Leone TG, Shelby MH, Wallington TJ, Bizub JJ, Foster M, et al. Octane numbers of ethanol-gasoline blends: measurements and novel estimation method from molar composition. SAE international 2012-01-1274: 2012.
- [41] Silberberg M. Principles of general chemistry. 3rd ed. McGraw-Hill; 2012.
- [42] Farrell JT, Weissman W, Johnston RJ, Nishimura J, Ueda T, Iwashita Y. Fuel effects on SIDI efficiency and emissions. SAE Trans 2003;112:2394–412.
- [43] Miles P. Fuel/engine interactions: potential for emissions and efficiency benefits Part1; SI fuels. In: Engine research center symposium.
- [44] Kabasin D, Hoyer K, Kazour J, Lamers R, Hurter T. Heated injectors for ethanol cold starts. SAE Int J Fuels Lubr 2009;2:172–9.
- [45] Sales LC, Carvalho MG, Oliveira F, Sodre JR. Improving cold start emissions from an ethanol-fuelled engine through an electronic gasoline injector. SAE international 2010-01-2131; 2010.
- [46] Iodice P, Senatore A. Influence of Ethanol-gasoline blended fuels on cold start emissions of a four-stroke motorcycle. Methodology and results. SAE international 2013-24-0117; 2013.
- [47] Spegar TD, Burke D, Lavan L. Delphi's heated injector technology: the efficient solution for fast ethanol cold starts and reduced emissions. SAE international 2012-01-0418; 2012.
- [48] Aubin K, Smith H. Evaluation of tailpipe emissions and cold start performance of E85 vehicles from the 2000 ethanol challenge. SAE technical paper 2001-01-0678; 2001.
- [49] Aikawa K, Sakurai T, Hayashi A. Study of ethanol-blended fuel (E85) effects under cold-start conditions. SAE Int J Fuels Lubr 2009;2:196–203.
- [50] Jewitt CH, Gibbs LM, Evans B. Gasoline driveability index, ethanol content and cold-start/warm-up vehicle performance. SAE technical paper 2005-01-3864; 2005.
- [51] Xu H, Wang C, Ma X, Sarangi AK, Weall A, Krueger-Venus J. Fuel injector deposits in direct-injection spark-ignition engines. Prog Energy Combust Sci 2015;50:63–80.
- [52] Vilardo JS, Arters D, Corkwell K, Cerda de Groote CL. A comprehensive examination of the effect of ethanol-blended gasoline on intake valve deposits in spark-ignited engines. SAE international 2007-01-3995; 2007.

- [53] Nakajima S. Research into optimal specifications for flexible fuel vehicle engines. SAE international 2010-01-1097; 2010.
- [54] Nakajima S, Saiki R, Goryozono Y. Development of an engine for flexible fuel vehicles (FFV). SAE international 2007-01-3616; 2007.
- [55] Clark SD, Studzinski W. Flex fuel vehicle performance and corrosion study of E85 fuel with chloride addition. SAE international 2010-01-2088; 2010.
- [56] Balki MK, Sayin C. The effect of compression ratio on the performance, emissions and combustion of an SI (spark ignition) engine fueled with pure ethanol, methanol and unleaded gasoline. Energy 2014;71:194–201.
- [57] Awad OI, Mamat R, Noor MM, Ibrahim TK, Yusri IM, Yusop AF. The impacts of compression ratio on the performance and emissions of ice powered by oxygenated fuels: a review. J Energy Inst 2016.
- [58] Leppard WR. The chemical origin of fuel octane sensitivity. SAE technical paper 902137; 1990.
- [59] Dickinson H. The cooperative fuel research and its results. SAE technical paper 290032; 1929.
- [60] Horning H. The cooperative fuel-research committee engine. SAE technical paper 310019; 1931.
- [61] International A. Standard test method for research octane number of sparkignition engine fuel. ASTM D2699-08; 2008.
- [62] International A. Standard test method for motor octane number of sparkignition engine fuel. ASTM D2700-08;2008.
- [63] International A. Standard specification for automotive spark-ignition engine fuel. ASTM D 4814-11; 2011.
- [64] Davies TJ, Cracknell RF, Head B, Hobbs K, Riley T. A new method to simulate the octane appetite of any spark ignition engine. SAE technical paper 2011-01-1873; 2011.
- [65] MAHLE. MAHLE downsizing engine technical information. Available on Mahle official website: <a href="http://wwwmahlecom/">http://wwwmahlecom/</a>; 2009.
- [66] Cracknell R, Warnecke W, Redmann J-H, Goh TK. Octane requirements of modern downsized boosted gasoline engines. MTZ Worldwide 2015;76 :4–7.
- [67] Binjuwair S, Mohamad TI, Almaleki A, Alkudsi A, Alshunaifi I. The effects of research octane number and fuel systems on the performance and emissions of a spark ignition engine: a study on Saudi Arabian RON91 and RON95 with port injection and direct injection systems. Fuel 2015;158:351–60.
- [68] Daniel R, Xu H, Wang C, Richardson D, Shuai S. Combustion performance of 2,5-dimethylfuran blends using dual-injection compared to direct-injection in a SI engine. Appl Energy 2012;98:59–68.
- [69] Nakata K, Uchida D, Ota A, Utsumi S, Kawatake K. The impact of RON on SI engine thermal efficiency. SAE technical paper 2007-01-2007; 2007.
- [70] Duchaussoy Y, Barbier P, Schmelzle P. Impact of gasoline RON and MON on a turbocharged MPI SI engine performances. SAE Trans 2004;113:1446–53.
- [71] Mittal V, Heywood JB. The shift in relevance of fuel RON and MON to knock onset in modern SI engines over the last 70 years. SAE Int J Eng 2009;2:1–10.
- [72] Kalghatgi G. Fuel/engine interactions: SAE International; 2014.
- [73] Kalghatgi GT. Fuel anti-knock quality-Part II: Vehicle studies-how relevant is Motor Octane Number (MON) in modern engines. SAE technical paper 2001-01-3585; 2001.
- [74] Remmert S, Campbell S, Cracknell R, Schuetze A, Lewis A, Giles K, et al. Octane appetite: the relevance of a lower limit to the MON specification in a downsized, highly boosted DISI engine. SAE Int J Fuels Lubr 2014;7:743–55.
- [75] Kalghatgi GT. Auto-ignition quality of practical fuels and implications for fuel requirements of future SI and HCCI engines. SAE paper 2005-01-0239; 2005:0239.
- [76] Kalghatgi GT, Head R. The available and required autoignition quality of gasoline-like fuels in HCCI engines at high temperatures. SAE 2004-01-1969. 2004;1884:221.
- [77] Orlebar CN, Joedicke A, Studzinski W. The effects of octane, sensitivity and K on the performance and fuel economy of a direct injection spark ignition vehicle. SAE technical paper 2014-01-1216; 2014.
- [78] Mittal V, Heywood JB. The relevance of fuel RON and MON to knock onset in modern SI engines. SAE international 2008-01-2414; 2008.
- [79] Kassai M, Shiraishi T, Teraji A, Wakefield S, Goh T, Doyle D, et al. The effect of fuel properties on knocking performance of boosted downsized engines. Presented at: "Advanced fuels for sustainable mobility", 4th-5th November 2014, Nuerburg, Deutschland; 2014.
- [80] Bourhis G, Solari J-P, Morel V, Dauphin R. Using ethanol's double octane boosting effect with low RON naphtha-based fuel for an octane on demand SI engine; 2016.
- [81] Turner Dale, Xu Hongming, Cracknell Roger F, Natarajan Vinod, Wyszynski M. Combustion performance of bio-ethanol at various blend ratios in a gasoline direct injection engine. Fuel 2011;90:1999–2006.
- [82] Daniel R, Xu H, Wang C, Richardson D, Shuai S. Gaseous and particulate matter emissions of biofuel blends in dual-injection compared to directinjection and port injection. Appl Energy 2013;105:252–61.
- [83] Anderson J, Kramer U, Mueller S, Wallington T. Octane numbers of ethanol– and methanol– gasoline blends estimated from molar concentrations. Energy Fuels 2010;24:6576–85.
- [84] Anderson JE, Leone TG, Shelby MH, Wallington TJ, Bizub JJ, Foster M, et al. Octane numbers of ethanol-gasoline blends: measurements and novel estimation method from molar composition. SAE technical paper 2012-01-1274; 2012.
- [85] Leone TG, Olin ED, Anderson JE, Jung HH, Shelby MH, Stein RA. Effects of fuel octane rating and ethanol content on knock, fuel economy, and CO<sub>2</sub> for a turbocharged DI engine. SAE Int J Fuels Lubr 2014;7:9–28.

- [86] Chupka GM, Christensen E, Fouts L, Alleman TL, Ratcliff M, McCormick RL. Heat of vaporization measurements for ethanol blends up to 50 volume percent in several hydrocarbon blendstocks and implications for knock in SI engines. SAE Int J Fuels Lubr 2015;8.
- [87] American Petroleum Institute, Determination of the Potential Property Ranges of Mid-Level Ethanol Blends. Final Report, available online at: <a href="http://wwwapiorg/~/media/Files/Policy/Fuels-and-Renewables/E10-Blending-Study-Final-Reportpdf">http://wwwapiorg/~/media/Files/Policy/Fuels-and-Renewables/E10-Blending-Study-Final-Reportpdf</a>; 2010.
- [88] Bogin Jr GE, Ösecky E, Ratcliff MA, Luecke J, He X, Zigler BT, et al. Ignition quality tester (IQT) investigation of the negative temperature coefficient region of alkane autoignition. Energy Fuels 2013;27:1632–42.
- [89] Bogin GE, Luecke J, Ratcliff MA, Osecky E, Zigler BT. Effects of iso-octane/ ethanol blend ratios on the observance of negative temperature coefficient behavior within the Ignition Quality Tester. Fuel 2016;186:82–90.
- [90] Rankovic N, Bourhis G, Loos M, Dauphin R. Understanding octane number evolution for enabling alternative low RON refinery streams and octane boosters as transportation fuels. Fuel 2015;150:41–7.
- [91] Foong TM, Morganti KJ, Brear MJ, da Silva G, Yang Y, Dryer FL. The effect of charge cooling on the RON of ethanol/gasoline blends. SAE Int J Fuels Lubr 2013;6:34–43.
- [92] Leone TG, Anderson JE, Davis RS, Iqbal A, Reese RA, Shelby MH, et al. The effect of compression ratio, fuel octane rating, and ethanol content on sparkignition engine efficiency. Environ Sci Technol 2015.
- [93] Splitter D, Szybist J. Intermediate alcohol-gasoline blends, fuels for enabling increased engine efficiency and powertrain possibilities. SAE Int J Fuels Lubr 2014;7:29–47.
- [94] Schwaderlapp IM, Adomeit IP, Kolbeck D-IA. Ethanol and its potential for downsized engine concepts. Auto Tech Rev 2012;1:48–53.
- [95] Leach B, Pearson R, Ali R, Williams J. CO<sub>2</sub> emission reduction synergies of advanced engine design and fuel octane number. SAE technical paper 2014-01-2610; 2014.
- [96] North American Fuel Survey, Summer and Winter 2013; Alliance of Automobile Manufacturers: Washington, DC.

- [97] Kalghatgi G. Fuel anti-knock quality-Part I. Engine studies. SAE Technical Paper 2001-01-3584. 2001:3584.
- [98] Okamoto K, Ichikawa T, Saitoh K, Oyama K, Hiraya K, Urushihara T. Study of antiknock performance under various octane numbers and compression ratios in a DISI engine. SAE transactions 2003-01-1804. 2003;112:1079–87.
- [99] Thring RH, Overington M. Gasoline engine combustion-the high ratio compact chamber. SAE technical paper 820166; 1982.
- [100] Russ S. A review of the effect of engine operating conditions on borderline knock. SAE technical paper 960497; 1996.
- [101] Gerty MD, Heywood JB. An investigation of gasoline engine knock limited performance and the effects of hydrogen enhancement. SAE technical paper 2006-01-0228; 2006.
- [102] Attard WP, Toulson E, Watson H, Hamori F. Abnormal combustion including mega knock in a 60% downsized highly turbocharged PFI engine. SAE technical paper 2010-01-1456; 2010.
- [103] McCarthy T. Ford's perspective on future engines and their fuels. In: University of Wisconsin engine research center symposium.
- [104] Ayala FA, Gerty MD, Heywood JB. Effects of combustion phasing, relative airfuel ratio, compression ratio, and load on SI engine efficiency. SAE technical paper 2006-01-0229; 2006.
- [105] Leach B, Pearson R, Williams J, Ali R. Efficiency benefits of optimising downsized boosted engines for high octane fuel. British Petrol 2014.
- [106] Smith P, Heywood J, Cheng W. Effects of compression ratio on spark-ignited engine efficiency. SAE technical paper 2014-01-2599; 2014.
- [107] Caris D, Nelson E. A new look at high compression engines. SAE technical paper 590015; 1959.
- [108] Kerley R, Thurston K. The indicated performance of Otto-cycle engines. SAE technical paper 620508; 1962.
- [109] Giroldo MB, Werninghaus E, Coelho E, Makant W. Development of 1.6 L flex fuel engine for Brazilian market. SAE technical paper 2005-01-4130; 2005.
- [110] Pendlebury K, Stokes J, Dalby J, Osborne R. The gasoline engine at 2020. In: 2rd Aachen colloquium automobile and engine technology.